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AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT

Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

(i)

(ii)

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

(i)

(j)

(k)

(l)

(m)

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

2.1.1

2.1.2

•

•

•

•

•

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General



DescriptionReference to law/Direction

Public Enterprises Circular No. 01/2021 

dated 16 November 2021 with regard 

to Guideline on Corporate 

Governance for State-Owned 

Enterprises - Paragraph 2.3 

Although the Board of Directors should ensure that it its 

strategic plan is prepared to achieve its mandated 

objectives within a national policy framework, the corporate 

plan for the period of 2022 - 2026 and the action plan for the 

year 2022 had not been prepared with the required 

amendments.

(a)

Public Enterprises Circular No. 01/2021 

dated 16 November 2021 with regard 

to Operational Manual for 

State-Owned Enterprises 

(b)

(i) Paragraph 3.3 There shall be a scheme of recruitment and promotion 

approved by the Department of Management Services for 

all posts at all levels of the Bureau. However, a recruitment 

and promotion scheme for the middle management level 

and senior management level of the Bureau was not 

prepared and approved according to Management Service 

Circular No. 30.

(ii) Paragraph 6.6 The annual report of the Bureau for the year 2021 had not 

been tabled in Parliament even by 30 May 2023.
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Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

2.1.3 

2.2

2.2.1

2.2.2

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

------------------------------------ -------------------

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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(a)

(b)

Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

DescriptionReference to law/Direction

Public Finance Circular No. 08/2019 of 

17 December 2029

According to the Circular, instructions have been given to 

register in the electronic procurement system of the 

government to carry out the procurement activities of 

government institutions as well as for the provision of business 

services carried out by those government institutions. 

However, the Bureau was not registered in the electronic 

government procurement system until 30 May 2023.

Although the advances received were to be settled 

immediately after the completion of the work, the advances 

obtained for various purposes by the Engineering 

Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and Head Office 

Division of the Bureau amounting to Rs. 1.30 million and Rs. 

1.66 million respectively had not been settled even though 

those advances were exceeded 03 years on the date of 

reporting.   

(c)

Delegation of Financial Authority of the 

Bureau - 2022

(d)

------------------------------------

-

-------------------

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

2.2.3 

2.2.4

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

(j)

(k)

(l)

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General



ANNUAL REPORT 2022|CENTRAL ENGINEERING CONSULTANCY BUREAU51

ST
A

TE
M

EN
T 

O
F 

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
PO

SI
TI

O
N

C
O

M
PA

RA
TIV

E 
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

ST
A

TE
M

EN
TS

A
S 

A
T 3

1S
T D

EC
EM

BE
R

G
RO

UP
C

EC
B

G
RO

UP
C

EC
B

G
RO

UP
C

EC
B

G
RO

UP
C

EC
B

G
RO

UP
C

EC
B

Rs
.

Rs
.

Rs
.

Rs
.

Rs
.

Rs
.

Rs
.

Rs
.

Rs
.

Rs
.

A
SS

ET
S

N
on

-C
ur

re
nt

 A
ss

et
s

Pr
op

er
ty

, P
la

nt
 a

nd
 E

qu
ip

m
en

t
2,

82
3,

08
8,

62
3

   
   

2,
38

7,
87

3,
40

8
   

   
3,

23
1,

13
0,

10
5

   
   

2,
77

3,
13

6,
17

5
   

   
3,

71
6,

43
6,

40
0

   
   

3,
12

0,
93

4,
66

9
   

   
3,

55
9,

94
4,

05
3

   
   

2,
98

2,
80

4,
75

3
   

   
3,

45
1,

21
7,

54
5

   
   

2,
83

9,
56

9,
17

1
   

   
Ri

gh
t-o

f-u
se

 A
ss

et
s

74
,9

48
,2

40
   

   
   

  
74

,9
48

,2
40

   
   

   
  

87
,5

98
,6

76
   

   
   

  
72

,4
22

,7
50

   
   

   
  

74
,6

74
,9

48
   

   
   

  
60

,0
13

,1
96

   
   

   
  

71
,9

43
,9

60
   

   
   

  
57

,7
96

,3
83

   
   

   
  

69
,2

12
,9

72
   

   
   

  
55

,5
79

,5
70

   
   

   
  

In
ta

ng
ib

le
 A

ss
et

s
8,

57
4,

36
9

   
   

   
   

8,
57

4,
36

9
   

   
   

   
7,

64
2,

75
0

   
   

   
   

7,
64

2,
75

0
   

   
   

   
6,

71
1,

13
0

   
   

   
   

6,
71

1,
13

1
   

   
   

   
9,

00
5,

59
3

   
   

   
   

9,
00

5,
59

4
   

   
   

   
6,

63
7,

97
5

   
   

   
   

6,
63

7,
97

6
   

   
   

   
In

ve
st

m
en

ts
52

,6
34

,7
00

   
   

   
  

62
,6

34
,7

20
   

   
   

  
55

,2
16

,5
73

   
   

   
  

65
,2

16
,5

93
   

   
   

  
57

,6
52

,7
73

   
   

   
  

67
,6

52
,7

93
   

   
   

  
46

,0
40

,9
67

   
   

   
  

56
,0

40
,9

87
   

   
   

  
29

6,
19

6,
14

8
   

   
   

30
6,

19
6,

16
8

   
   

   
D

iff
er

ed
 T

ax
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

25
,2

74
,6

27
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

A
m

ou
nt

 D
ue

 to
 R

el
at

ed
 P

ar
tie

s
1,

43
1,

23
9,

45
3

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

53
8,

06
6,

67
5

   
   

To
ta

l N
on

 C
ur

re
nt

 A
ss

et
s

2,
95

9,
24

5,
93

2
   

 
2,

55
9,

30
5,

36
4

   
 

3,
38

1,
58

8,
10

5
   

 
2,

91
8,

41
8,

26
9

   
 

3,
85

5,
47

5,
25

1
   

 
4,

90
7,

85
7,

27
2

   
 

3,
68

6,
93

4,
57

3
   

 
4,

53
6,

88
7,

17
0

   
 

3,
82

3,
26

4,
63

9
   

 
4,

74
6,

04
9,

56
1

   
 

C
ur

re
nt

 A
ss

et
s

In
ve

nt
or

ie
s

75
6,

03
1,

50
2

   
   

   
10

,7
27

,0
67

   
   

   
73

7,
85

5,
75

9
   

   
   

10
,7

41
,0

39
   

   
   

  
74

0,
28

9,
20

9
   

   
   

17
,0

74
,9

84
   

   
   

  
1,

03
8,

29
5,

88
1

   
   

11
,2

71
,5

78
   

   
   

  
1,

00
3,

13
6,

64
9

   
   

21
,5

73
,1

21
   

   
   

  
W

or
ki

ng
 p

ro
gr

es
s

45
8,

34
6,

68
5

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

79
,9

38
,5

21
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

10
5,

09
1,

34
0

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

35
,1

98
,7

33
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

64
,6

75
,5

22
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

Tr
ad

e 
&

 O
th

er
 R

ec
ei

va
bl

es
12

,0
92

,2
06

,7
64

   
 

11
,4

85
,2

97
,5

37
  

13
,3

57
,5

90
,4

61
   

 
11

,7
41

,4
94

,0
84

   
 

12
,2

22
,3

71
,2

15
   

 
10

,7
43

,0
96

,2
16

   
 

11
,0

34
,8

18
,6

11
   

 
9,

68
3,

21
9,

44
3

   
   

10
,9

60
,6

43
,6

31
   

 
9,

44
5,

68
5,

93
1

   
   

Sh
or

t T
er

m
 In

ve
sm

en
ts

5,
17

6,
60

0,
45

8
   

   
3,

19
1,

49
4,

52
5

   
 

4,
86

8,
45

2,
60

6
   

   
3,

10
8,

47
1,

01
7

   
   

5,
64

3,
21

1,
45

0
   

   
3,

35
2,

00
1,

73
8

   
   

5,
50

3,
65

8,
32

0
   

   
3,

16
7,

30
9,

88
4

   
   

5,
75

4,
44

1,
60

9
   

   
3,

00
8,

25
6,

84
3

   
   

C
as

h 
an

d
 C

as
h 

Eq
ui

va
le

nt
s

86
5,

76
0,

04
8

   
   

   
53

7,
69

5,
21

4
   

   
 

56
8,

53
9,

38
1

   
   

   
25

7,
29

1,
25

3
   

   
   

74
2,

95
1,

48
5

   
   

   
43

4,
51

7,
36

8
   

   
   

1,
05

8,
03

3,
18

0
   

   
40

6,
83

7,
41

1
   

   
   

92
8,

17
7,

35
1

   
   

   
27

4,
97

1,
32

6
   

   
   

In
te

r c
om

pa
ny

 c
ur

re
nt

 a
cc

ou
nt

s
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
58

8,
87

1,
71

9
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
60

0,
19

6,
67

4
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
65

2,
54

5,
48

4

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

To
ta

l  
C

ur
re

nt
 A

ss
et

s
19

,3
48

,9
45

,4
57

  
16

,8
14

,0
86

,0
63

  
19

,6
12

,3
76

,7
29

  
16

,7
18

,1
94

,0
67

  
19

,4
53

,9
14

,6
99

  
14

,5
46

,6
90

,3
06

  
18

,6
70

,0
04

,7
25

  
13

,2
68

,6
38

,3
16

  
18

,7
11

,0
74

,7
63

  
12

,7
50

,4
87

,2
21

  
To

ta
l A

ss
et

s
22

,3
08

,1
91

,3
89

  
19

,3
73

,3
91

,4
28

  
22

,9
93

,9
64

,8
34

  
19

,6
36

,6
12

,3
36

  
23

,3
09

,3
89

,9
50

  
19

,4
54

,5
47

,5
79

  
22

,3
56

,9
39

,2
98

  
17

,8
05

,5
25

,4
86

  
22

,5
34

,3
39

,4
02

  
17

,4
96

,5
36

,7
81

  

EQ
UI

TY
 A

N
D 

LI
A

BI
LI

TIE
S

C
on

tri
bu

te
d

 C
ap

ita
l

50
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
50

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

50
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

  
 

50
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
50

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

50
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
50

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

50
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
50

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

50
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
C

ap
ita

l R
es

er
ve

s
12

2,
41

4,
35

8
   

   
   

12
2,

41
4,

35
7

   
   

   
60

6,
34

5,
30

0
   

   
   

60
6,

34
5,

30
0

   
   

   
71

1,
16

8,
86

4
   

   
   

60
9,

05
7,

53
3

   
   

   
80

3,
60

8,
09

7
   

   
   

60
9,

05
7,

53
3

   
   

   
80

3,
60

8,
09

7
   

   
   

60
9,

05
7,

53
3

   
   

   
Re

ta
in

ed
 E

ar
ni

ng
6,

08
6,

97
3,

71
1

   
   

5,
67

5,
86

0,
56

7
   

   
6,

23
4,

94
0,

31
0

   
   

5,
64

0,
07

4,
83

5
   

   
7,

25
9,

94
5,

77
2

   
   

6,
60

7,
60

2,
08

1
   

   
6,

77
7,

03
4,

33
0

   
   

5,
91

7,
60

2,
73

1
   

   
6,

91
8,

15
0,

69
8

   
   

5,
89

6,
50

5,
52

5
   

   
To

ta
l E

qu
ity

 
6,

20
9,

88
8,

06
9

   
 

5,
79

8,
77

4,
92

5
   

 
6,

84
1,

78
5,

60
9

   
 

6,
24

6,
92

0,
13

4
   

 
8,

06
4,

05
3,

87
0

   
 

7,
21

7,
15

9,
61

4
   

 
7,

58
1,

14
2,

42
8

   
 

6,
52

7,
16

0,
26

4
   

 
7,

72
2,

25
8,

79
5

   
 

6,
50

6,
06

3,
05

7
   

 
N

on
-C

ur
re

nt
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
Le

as
e 

C
re

d
ito

rs
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
2,

69
8,

96
8

   
   

   
   

2,
69

8,
96

8
   

   
   

   
2,

83
1,

24
3

   
   

   
   

2,
83

1,
24

3
   

   
   

   
2,

96
8,

73
6

   
   

   
   

2,
96

8,
73

6
   

   
   

   
Em

pl
oy

ee
 B

en
ef

it 
Lia

bi
lit

ie
s

17
6,

86
9,

57
1

   
   

   
16

8,
34

1,
72

1
   

   
   

18
0,

97
4,

43
8

   
   

   
16

7,
90

3,
37

5
   

   
   

22
1,

13
2,

72
1

   
   

   
20

1,
95

6,
73

8
   

   
   

21
7,

26
5,

97
9

   
   

   
18

8,
05

6,
50

3
   

   
   

16
9,

78
9,

43
3

   
   

   
14

1,
65

2,
95

0
   

   
   

D
ef

er
re

d
 T

ax
 

6,
88

7,
51

8
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

20
0,

93
2,

48
9

   
   

   
15

9,
16

6,
86

4
   

   
   

14
2,

74
6,

18
4

   
   

   
12

5,
25

8,
72

6
   

   
   

36
,6

80
,6

87
   

   
   

  
20

,2
75

,3
57

   
   

   
  

54
,7

52
,7

19
   

   
   

  
40

,4
87

,1
90

   
   

   
  

D
isc

ou
nt

 R
ec

ei
ve

d
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
11

,9
07

,0
48

   
   

   
  

11
,9

07
,0

48
   

   
   

  
To

ta
l N

on
 C

ur
re

nt
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
18

3,
75

7,
08

8
   

   
 

16
8,

34
1,

72
1

   
   

 
38

1,
90

6,
92

7
   

   
 

32
7,

07
0,

23
9

   
   

 
36

6,
57

7,
87

3
   

   
 

32
9,

91
4,

43
2

   
   

 
25

6,
77

7,
90

9
   

   
 

21
1,

16
3,

10
2

   
   

 
23

9,
41

7,
93

7
   

   
 

19
7,

01
5,

92
5

   
   

 
C

ur
re

nt
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
Tr

ad
e 

&
 O

th
er

 P
ay

ab
le

s
14

,9
09

,4
61

,1
79

   
 

12
,4

79
,6

23
,7

65
   

 
14

,8
88

,5
63

,9
47

   
 

12
,1

90
,5

21
,6

50
   

 
14

,2
12

,5
38

,2
24

   
 

11
,2

61
,3

62
,8

47
   

 
13

,8
36

,3
00

,4
69

   
 

10
,4

01
,4

15
,5

73
   

 
13

,7
98

,2
85

,3
56

   
 

10
,0

70
,4

94
,1

56
   

 
In

co
m

e 
Ta

x 
Pa

ya
bl

es
97

4,
66

5,
37

5
   

   
   

92
6,

65
1,

01
7

   
   

   
88

1,
70

8,
35

2
   

   
   

87
2,

10
0,

31
3

   
   

   
66

6,
00

2,
25

6
   

   
   

64
5,

89
2,

95
8

   
   

   
68

2,
50

0,
76

4
   

   
   

66
5,

56
8,

81
8

   
   

   
77

4,
14

8,
92

9
   

   
   

72
2,

73
5,

25
9

   
   

   
Le

as
e 

C
re

d
ito

rs
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
21

7,
72

8
   

   
   

   
   

21
7,

72
8

   
   

   
   

   
21

7,
72

8
   

   
   

   
   

21
7,

72
8

   
   

   
   

   
22

8,
38

4
   

   
   

   
   

22
8,

38
4

   
   

   
   

   
In

te
r b

as
e 

C
ur

re
nt

 A
cc

ou
nt

s
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
In

te
r c

om
pa

ny
 c

ur
re

nt
 a

cc
ou

nt
s

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

Ba
nk

 O
ve

rd
ra

fts
30

,4
19

,6
79

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
To

ta
l C

ur
re

nt
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
15

,9
14

,5
46

,2
32

  
13

,4
06

,2
74

,7
81

  
15

,7
70

,2
72

,2
98

  
13

,0
62

,6
21

,9
63

  
14

,8
78

,7
58

,2
07

  
11

,9
07

,4
73

,5
33

  
14

,5
19

,0
18

,9
61

  
11

,0
67

,2
02

,1
19

  
14

,5
72

,6
62

,6
71

  
10

,7
93

,4
57

,7
99

  
To

ta
l L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
16

,0
98

,3
03

,3
21

  
13

,5
74

,6
16

,5
02

  
16

,1
52

,1
79

,2
26

  
13

,3
89

,6
92

,2
01

  
15

,2
45

,3
36

,0
80

  
12

,2
37

,3
87

,9
65

  
14

,7
75

,7
96

,8
70

  
11

,2
78

,3
65

,2
21

  
14

,8
12

,0
80

,6
07

  
10

,9
90

,4
73

,7
24

  
To

ta
l E

qu
ity

 a
nd

 L
ia

bi
lit

ie
s

22
,3

08
,1

91
,3

89
  

19
,3

73
,3

91
,4

28
  

22
,9

93
,9

64
,8

34
  

19
,6

36
,6

12
,3

36
  

23
,3

09
,3

89
,9

50
  

19
,4

54
,5

47
,5

79
  

22
,3

56
,9

39
,2

98
  

17
,8

05
,5

25
,4

86
  

22
,5

34
,3

39
,4

02
  

17
,4

96
,5

36
,7

81
  

20
22

20
21

 (R
es

ta
te

d)
20

20
 (R

es
ta

te
d)

20
19

20
18

Chairman

Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General

-
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF CECB

It is evident that the Bureau is becoming a change agent of the public sector in multi-disciplinary Engineering 

and has also been Branded as a Public Sector organization which has capability and capacity to handle any 

dicey situation on a fast - track basis on behalf of the Government. In other words it is the only Public Sector 

Engeineering Organization with a strong Human Resource base that consists of multi-discilinary professionals and 

Technical staff  representing various Engineering disciplines. It should also be noted that our organization is 

trained to think ' beyond Engneering ' solutions  as an organization, CECB acts as a result oriented team 

dedicated for the service. The team comprises of two major groups, namely , the technical / engineering staff 

and non-technical Staff. The staff is supported by teams of para technical, technical and secretarial staff who 

has a wide range of experience and skills in their respective fields.

The CECB Group Revenue of the year 2022 was Rs.8.6 billion reflecting a 20%  decrease over the previous year 

Revenue. CECB  Revenue Comparing with the previous year showing a decrease and Gross Profit has reduced 

by  31% mainly due to decrease in consultancy business revenue compared to previous year.

Operations of the CECB and the Group for the year 2022 had resulted beforer tax profit of Rs. 69 Million and Rs. 

324 million respectively as  compared with the corresponding year before tax profit Rs.49  million and Rs. 303 

million respectively for the preceding year. Total assets value of the Bureau Rs. 17,496 million and profit is 

represented 0.40% of the Total Assets of the Bureau.

The Operatinal and financial performances  achieved hence are all the more creditable considering the 

institutional contrains faced by the Bureau as a self - earning state owned enterprise (SOE) with due compliance 

to financial and procurements guidelines and procedures governing for public enterprices.
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Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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HUMAN RESOURCE

The Bureau is committed to create a workplace where the performance and behavior of our employees are 

governed by a strong organizational culture supported by the procedures laid down by the Management and 

the aligned Ministries.

The CECB culture revolve around the continues improvement of quality in all aspects and at all stages of 

consultancy in construction, collective decision-marking friendly but firm disposition towards employees welfare 

and fostering and informal organizational environment. Our workplace policy enables the best people to 

produce their best work in a safe and healthy workplace free from discrimination and harassment, whilst 

redressing their grievance and providing for their welfare.

WORKFORCE 2022

TOTAL WORKFORCE IN 2022 - 1192 EMPLOYEES

In 2021, bureau had total of 1237 employees and compared to last year there is a decrease by 4 %.

Bureau Human Resources unit is under the direct supervision of the General Manager and is responsible for all 

HR functions which take place in the Bureau. Employees’ professional development, safety and rights are 

protected by protocols which are ensured via regular internal audit inspections. Formal policy frameworks are 

adhered to in accordance with the procedures set by the government and cover recruitment, performance 

appraisal based on the KPI’s given by the government guidelines, grievance handling, training and 

development and compensation.
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•  Technical  691  199  890  

•  Non -  Technical  187  115  302  
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Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau and its subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2022 

in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1.   Financial Statements

1.1 Qualified Opinion 

The audit of the financial statements of the Central Engineering Consultancy Bureau (“the Bureau”)  

and its subsidiary (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprising the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

was carried out under my direction in pursuance of provisions in Article 154(1) of the Constitution of 

the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka read in conjunction with provisions of the National Audit 

Act No. 19 of 2018 and Finance Act No. 38 of 1971.  My report to Parliament in pursuance of provisions 

in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution will be tabled in due course.  

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section 

of my report, the accompanying financial statements of the Bureau and the Group give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Bureau and the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of their 

financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standards.

1.2      Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS) No. 01-Presentation of Financial Statements,

Where an entity restates its financial statements in accordance with paragraph 40(a) of the Standard, 

the financial position before the restatement of the prior period shall be presented as a third step in 

addition to the minimum comparative financial statements required in accordance with paragraph 

38(a). However, the financial position before the restatement of prior period items was not presented 

together with the set of restated financial statements submitted by the Bureau.

In contravention of paragraph 32 of the Standard, the debit balances in the retention moneys 

payable account in respect of Katubedda and Jawatta Base Offices of the Engineering Procurement 

Construction (EPC) Division amounting to Rs. 5.71 million and Rs. 129.81 million with regard to 4,120 and 

74 instances respectively were set off against the credit balances and the net value of the retention 

money payable amounting to Rs.121.05 million and Rs.357.33 million respectively had been shown in 

the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - In accordance with paragraph 51 of 

the Standard, an entity shall review residual value and the useful life of an asset at least at each financial 

year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be accounted for as a 

change in an accounting estimate in accordance with LKAS 8. However, the Bureau and the Subsidiary 

had not reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets which had a written-down value of 

Rs.633.07 million and Rs.558.98 million respectively at the end of the year under review. Further, the assets 

of Rs.374.79 million and Rs.523.57 million respectively belonging to the Bureau and the Subsidiary were fully 

depreciated and continued to be used but appropriate steps were not taken to correct the estimated 

error in those assets.

Depreciation on furniture and fittings, construction equipment and fittings, office equipment, factory 

machinery, containers and computers, etc. had been computed by the Bureau on the values shown in 

the general ledger, irrespective of the actual existence of such assets, as per verification of assets 

conducted by each Base Office of the Bureau. Furthermore, the Bureau had not maintained a 

centralized fixed asset register to verify the existence of assets shown in the Bureau's general ledger. 

Therefore, it was not possible to ascertain the accuracy of the accumulated depreciation of Rs.590.33 

million related to assets with a cost of Rs.648.87 million shown in the financial statements.

Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standard No. 09 - Financial Instruments;- Except for trade receivables within 

the scope of paragraph 5.1.3, at initial recognition, an entity shall measure other financial asset or 

financial liability at its fair value after deducting the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of them. However, the Bureau had recognized the face value of Rs.246.99 million in the 

financial statements instead of the fair value of the bonds received from the Treasury for the settlement 

of the value of Rs.235.08 million due from the debtors.

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard No. 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors:- Paragraph 

36 of the Standard requires that the effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be adjusted 

prospectively by including it in profit or loss of that period or future period. However, the impairment of 

Rs.959.08 million made by the Bureau on behalf of the trade receivables during the year under review had 

been adjusted as Rs.770.62 million and Rs.188.46 million affecting the accumulated profit/loss of the years 

2020 and 2021 respectively. Due to this, the profit of the year under review had been overstated by that 

amount and the accumulated profits of the years 2020 and 2021 had been understated by the 

respective amounts. Further, the basis on which these allocations were distinguished for the year 2020 and 

2021 was not clarified in the audit.

Accordingly, the Bureau's accounting policy states that trade receivables are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that such amounts are 

uncollectible, and that in such event an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the same time. Nevertheless, it was observed that the Bureau had not acted accordingly.

According to the financial statement presented by the Bureau for the year 2022, out of debtors and 

retention balances, an amount of Rs.612.84 million were written off against the profit for the year under 

review and in that balance, a sum of Rs.380.10 million that were not made provision in previous years were 

also included. No actions were taken to obtain approval of the Board of Directors for this write-off as per 

paragraph 6.9 of the Establishment Administrative Circular No. 01/2021 dated 16 November 2021.

Although the debtors and retentions amounting to Rs. 338 million related to Ampara (South East) Base 

Office were included in these write-offs, the relevant employers and clear and specific reasons for this 

write-offs were not submitted to the audit. 

The total debtor balance was Rs.5,296.02 million as at 31 December 2022, and only 06 debtor balance 

confirmations worth Rs.4.49 million had been received even up to 15 August 2023.

Detailed information for the outstanding retention balance of Rs.98.15 million in relation to Uva, 

Battaramulla, Central, East, Ampara and South Base Offices of Engineering Procurement Construction 

(EPC) Division was not submitted for audit.                   

Central Engineering Services (Private) Limited

Internal transactions between Base Offices should be eliminated when preparing the Company's annual 

financial statements. However, the total balances due between the sub-units of the Bases and between 

the Bases was shown as Rs. 16.46 million in the statement of financial position. Further, an income Rs. 

113.49 million earned internally by each Base Offices of the Company through providing assets such as 

vehicles and construction equipment on rental basis was also included in the annual income of the 

Company. 

In the age analysis of the accrued expenses of the Northern Base Office of the Company, a sum of Rs. 

11.77 million was shown as payable to a sub-contractor for supply and installation of wooden doors and 

windows in project BD – 624. Nevertheless, acceptable evidence for the said expenditure was not 

submitted to the audit and this amount was not paid until 01 June 2023. Further, although an amount of 

Rs. 3.04 million had been brought forward for a long period in the accrued expenses register of the 

Anuradhapura Base Office, no acceptable evidence was submitted to the audit to verify the said 

expenses and balances.

The Internal Audit was revealed that a welfare society has been formed at the Eastern Base Office by the 

staff members of the Company and the Parent Organization and they have been paid an amount of Rs. 

152.16 million for the supply of labour and materials on sub-contract basis for the operations of the 

Company during the period of 4 years between 2019-2022. However, according to Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standard 24, no disclosure was made in the financial statements on all transactions and outstanding 

balances which are necessary to understand the related party nature of the transactions between the 

Company and the Welfare Society as well as the possible impact on the financial statements thereof. 

Therefore, the audit could not be ruled out the risk as to whether these transactions were transparently 

incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Out of the balance of trade receivables amounting to Rs. 2,395.66 million due to the Company from other 

external parties, the confirmation letters received during the year under review for only Rs. 24.59 million or 

01 percent of the total outstanding.

According to Guideline 5.4.4 (iii) of the Procurement Guidelines, the mobilization advances received shall 

be fully settled before the project works reached to 90 per cent complete level. However, mobilization 

advances so received amounting to Rs.211.13 million on fully completed and 90 per cent completed 

construction projects of 06 Base Offices of the Company had remained in the accounts as at 31 

December 2022 without being settled. Further, the reasons for non-settlement of these balances were not 

presented to the audit.

Once the projects works undertaken by the Company are completed there should not be the due from 

customers or due to customers as at 31 December 2022. But, due to not taking proper action for 

settlement of these balances, sums of Rs.143.31 million and Rs.20.6 million were shown in the financial 

statements as due from customers and due to customers respectively in respect of 62 completed 

projects. It was further observed that the main reason for these discrepancies was not submitting bills 

correctly.

Although, all the Value Added Tax (VAT) payments are made by the Head Office of the Company on 

cash basis, the accrual concept is being used for accounting of those VAT payments. As a result, a 

difference of Rs.12.74 million was observed between the VAT payable and receivable shown in the 

document submitted by the Base Offices for the month of December 2022 and those amount shown in 

their financial statements. The Company had not maintained a monthly reconciliation process to 

reconcile this discrepancy.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). My responsibilities, under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of my report.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for my qualified opinion. 

1.3      Other information included in the Group’s 2022 Annual Report.   

The other information comprises the information included in the 2022 Annual  Report but does not include 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available  to me 

after the date of this auditor’s report .  Management is responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

When I read the Annual Report, if I conclude that there are material misstatements therein, I am required 

to communicate that matter to those charged with governance for correction.  If further material 

uncorrected misstatements are existed those will be included in my report to Parliament in pursuance of 

provisions in Article 154 (6) of the Constitution that will be tabled in due course.

1.4      Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

As per Section 16(1) of the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018, the Bureau and the Group are required to 

maintain proper books and records of all their income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, to enable 

annual and periodic financial statements to be prepared of the Bureau and the Group.

1.5      Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the internal control of the Bureau and the Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely 

responsible for my audit opinion

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

2.        Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

2.1      National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 include specific provisions for following requirements.

Except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of my report, I 

have obtained all the information and explanation that required for the audit and as far as appears from 

my examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bureau as per the requirement of 

section 12 (a) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented is consistent with the preceding year as per the requirement of    

section 6 (1) (d) (iii) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

The financial statements presented includes all the recommendations made by me in the previous year 

[except the audit matters of 1.2(b), (c), (h) and (i) described in the basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

my report]  as per the requirement of section 6 (1) (d) (iv) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained were limited to matters that are material, 

nothing has come to my attention;

To state that any member of the governing body of the Bureau  has any direct or indirect interest in any 

contract entered into by the Bureau which are out of the normal cause of business as per the requirement 

of  section 12 (d) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018.

To state that the Bureau has not complied with any applicable written law, general and special directions 

issued by the governing body of the Bureau  as per the requirement of section 12 (f) of the National Audit 

Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;

To state that the Bureau has not performed according to its powers, functions and duties as per the 

requirement of section 12 (g) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018;

to state that the resources of the Bureau had not been procured and utilized economically, efficiently 

and effectively within the time frames and in compliance with the applicable laws as per the requirement 

of section 12 (h) of the National Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 

2.3       Other Matters

The operating loss of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division in the years 2021 and 2022 

had increased from Rs. 228.03 million to Rs. 303.11 million respectively and it was observed that it was an 

increase of 33 percent compared to the previous year. Further, according to the financial statement of 

the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division submitted for the year under review, 9 Divisions 

out of 14 had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.358.91 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

According to the financial statements of the Consulting Division submitted for the year under review, 17 

out of 22 cost centers of the Consulting Division had recorded an aggregate operating loss of Rs.378.60 

million.

There should not existed the Due from Customers in respect of two fully completed projects in 2015 and 

2018 at the Ampara (South East) Base Office of the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division. 

However, due to not taking proper measures to recover a balance of Rs. 1.43 million which Due from 

Customers even at the end of the year under review, the balances were shown as receivable balances 

in the financial statements. In the meantime, a balance of Rs.1.43 million Due to Customers was observed 

in relation to another project in the same Base Office. Furthermore, a balance of Rs.3.89 million Due to 

Customers was also observed in connection with a fully completed project in the Southern Base Office.

Thirteen (13) officers had entered into bond agreements with the Bureau for Rs.18.03 million between the 

year 2007 and the end of the year under review and by the end of the year under review, an amount of 

Rs.15.21 million remained unpaid to the Bureau by those officers. Furthermore, the Bureau had not taken 

effective steps to recover the arrears promptly in the year 2022.

The land with an extent of 02 rood and 24.5 perches owned by the Bureau located at TB Jaya Mawatha 

(Dali Road) Colombo, which has a high economic value, worth Rs.575 million remained idle without being 

used for any productive economic activity even at the end of the year under review.

According to the statement of financial position at the end of the year under review, the total debtor 

balance is Rs.5,296.02 million and according to the age analysis of those debtors, the debtor balances 

between 3 – 5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division 

and the Consultancy Division were Rs. 641.47 million and Rs. 1,491.12 million respectively. It was observed 

that this situation has arisen due to the lack of proper internal control systems and timely collection of loan 

money at the Bureau.

According to the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, the total creditor balance is 

Rs.2,061.60 million and according to the age analysis of those creditors, the creditor balances between 

3–5 years and more than 5 years in the Engineering Procurement Construction (EPC) Division and the 

Consultancy Division were Rs.364.90 million and Rs.670.16 million respectively and no effective measures 

were taken to settle these balances.

According to Section 7 (2) of the Settlement of Default Taxes (Special Provisions) Act No. 16 of 2010, the 

Bureau had defaulted the payment of income tax, VAT and other taxes including Pay as You Earn (PAYE) 

tax in respect of the periods 1996 to 2007 and related penalties amounting to Rs. 82.38 million to the 

Department of Inland Revenue.

The Bureau has the land on which the official housing complex consisting of 15 housing units located at 

Sarana Road, Colombo 07 and the value of that land was Rs.960 million and the building value was 

Rs.6.68 million as at 31 December 2022. Out of these 15 official quarters, it was observed that 05 quarters 

are being used by outside parties who are not officers of the Bureau and it was further observed that 

giving quarters to outside parties is against the existing system. House rents were not collected from two 

official quarters given to outside parties and the reasons for this were not disclosed. Therefore, it was 

observed that the attention of the Bureau was not focused on the effective utilization of these quarters.

150 acres of land in Rambakanoya Mahaweli Zone (Polle Bedda Mahaweli Division) of the Ampara 

District belonging to the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority had been provided to the Bureau for a mixed 

agriculture project by the letter No. DL/10/02/07 - X dated 21 August 2020 of the Director General of the 

Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority and by the letter No. RPM/RO/L/CLO/PB/38 dated 19 November 2020 of the 

Resident Manager of the Sri Lanka Mahaweli Authority. Accordingly, the Bureau had implemented an 

agricultural project, but had not entered into a formal lease agreement until the date of audit on 01 June 

2023 in order to formally acquire the land on a long-term lease basis.

Furthermore, although the biological assets generated through this agricultural project were presented as 

Rs. 17.27 million in the financial statements, the land and capital costs of Rs. 11.26 million and equipment 

of Rs. 0.17 million were also included in that value.

The officer who was on duty as the Chief Operating Engineer during the period of 01 January to 22 June 

2020 was suspended with effect from 11 January 2021 due to alleged misconduct in the Anuradhapura 

Base Office of the Subsidiary belonging to the Bureau during that period. Nevertheless, without completing 

the related investigation, the concerned officer was reinstated as an employee of this Bureau on 11 

January 2021, which was the date of his suspension, by the Chairman in a letter dated 24 May 2021.

Two bank accounts belonging to the Bureau with a total balance of Rs.2.40 million remained inactive in 

the year 2022 without transactions.

W.P.C. Wickramaratne

Auditor General
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